THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No.: 2014-001083
WCC Number: 0800956

RECEIVED
JUN 09 2014
SC Court of Appeals

SC Second Injury Fund, Respondent,

v.

Pepsi Bottling Group and Old Republic Insurance Company, Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Andrew D. Smith
Andrew D. Smith, LLC
147 Wappoo Creek Dr. STE 104
Charleston, South Carolina 29412
(843) 737-4619
Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Full Commission is correct in finding, as the Hearing Commissioner found, the Claimant's date of accident is November 29, 2007, and he merely sustained a temporary flare-up on January 16, 2008?
 - a. Whether the Full Commission is correct finding, as the Hearing Commissioner found, that the medical treatment clearly shows the Claimant injured himself on November 29, 2007, and he merely sustained a temporary flare-up on January 16, 2008?
 - b. Whether the Full Commission is correct in finding, as the Hearing Commissioner found, the medical experts' opinions clearly show the Claimant injured himself on November 29, 2007, and he merely sustained a temporary flare-up on January 16, 2008?
 - c. Whether the Full Commission is correct in finding, as the Hearing Commissioner found, that the Orders from the Commissioners clearly reference WCC #0800956 as a November 29, 2007 injury?
2. Whether the Full Commission is correct in finding, as the Hearing Commissioner found, the Appellants properly provided notice to the Fund of the November 29, 2007 accident on December 31, 2007?
3. Whether the majority of the Full Commission erred in holding the Employer had a continued duty to establish a *prima facie* case for reimbursement, establishing all the elements of reimbursement under S.C.Code Ann. § 42-9-400(2010), to the Fund under S.C.Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B)(2)(2010), after the Fund denied the claim on two (2) prior occasions based on notice.
 - a. Whether the majority of the Full Commission erred as a matter of law in failing to find, as the Hearing Commissioner found, the Appellant did not have any further duty to submit additional information, under S.C.Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B)(2)(2010), after the Fund choose to deny the Appellants' claim based on notice, since a denial on notice is a complete bar to recover under S.C.Code Ann. § 42-9-400(2010)?
 - b. Whether the majority of the Full Commission erred in failing to find, as the Hearing Commissioner found, additional evidence after June 30, 2011, can be submitted to the Commission after a claim has been denied, as S.C.Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B)(2)(2010) does not mandate, nor does it mention exclusion of evidence?
4. Whether the Hearing Commissioner is correct in finding the Claimant had a pre-existing permanent condition to his lumbar spine as a result of an on-the-job injury on April 27, 2002 that substantially increased the Claimant's disability and/or medical expenses and was an obstacle or hindrance to his employment or reemployment under S.C.Code Ann. § 42-9-400(2010)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter originally came before Commissioner Gene McCaskill, on February 28, 2013, in Hampton County. (Item No. 29) The hearing was scheduled to determine the issues as set forth on the Employer's Form 54, claim for reimbursement from the South Carolina Second Injury Fund (hereinafter, Fund). The Employer had paid Two Hundred Twenty Two Thousand Two Hundred Ninety Dollars and 88/100 (\$222,290.88) in indemnity and Eighty Seven Thousand Four Hundred Sixteen Dollars and 22/100 (\$87,416.22) in medical benefits and sought reimbursement under S.C.Code Ann. § 42-9-400(2010). (Item No. 25)

It was argued by the Employer that the Claimant had a preexisting condition, as a result of a work-related injury that occurred on April 27, 2002, at Industrial Grounds Maintenance. The Claimant sustained an on-the-job injury resulting in an annular tear at the L5-S1 disc space. He was treated and released with permanent impairment and could only perform fifty percent (50%) of the ground keeping maintenance he was able to perform prior to the accident, and he had to change jobs due to his disability. (Item No. 23)

On November 29, 2007, the Claimant sustained a compensable injury to his lumbar spine at Pepsi Bottling Group. (Item No. 6) On that date, the Claimant bent down to pick up a twelve (12) pack of product, injuring his lower back. (Item No. 6) The Claimant reinjured his L5-S1 disc space. The Claimant did sustain a temporary aggravation of the November 29, 2007 injury, when he attempted to return to work on January 16, 2008. (Item No. 16)

The Employer provided notice to the Fund of the November 29, 2007 accident on December 27, 2007. (Item No. 7) The Fund acknowledged acceptance of the notice and assigned an SIF claim number (138841) on January 2, 2008. (Item No. 11) Prior to the hearing, the Fund argued the Claimant's actual injury occurred on January 16, 2008, rather than

November 28, 2007. Therefore, it refused to acknowledge that notice was provide within seventy-eight (78) weeks. The Fund then issued a denial.

After receiving the denial letter, the Employer provided the Fund with Commissioner Williams and Commissioner Barden's Orders indicating the Claimant injured himself on November 29, 2007 and merely sustained a temporary aggravation of the November 29, 2007 injury on January 16, 2008. (Item No. 18) The Orders stated unequivocally that the actual date of injury is November 29, 2007. (Item No. 17, 21) Nonetheless, the Fund refused to accept the claim as a November 29, 2007 injury.

Marla Rehborn, the Claims Analyst for the Fund, per letter dated July 8, 2010, stated, "Thank you for the submissions in regards to the above claim. [0800956]. After a careful review of this claim, I find that it does not meet the requirements for Second Injury Fund Reimbursement. It appears that this claim was not put on notice in a timely manner... As notice is not proper, we have no choice but to deny this claim for benefits...." (Item No. 19) The Fund refused to except the medical records, the Order of Commissioner Williams and Commissioner Barden's Order indicating WCC file number 0800956 date of accident is November 29, 2007. It maintained the claim was a 2008 claim to allege that notice was not proper. (Item No. 19) After receiving the second (2nd) denial letter, and being unable to submit any additional evidence to support the fact that WCC file number 0800956 date of accident is November 29, 2007, the Employer began preparing their case for a hearing. Subsequently, the Employer filed a Form 54, an employer's request for a hearing. (Item No. 26)

Since the Fund refused to acknowledge that notice was proper, the Employer could not have provided any additional evidence for acceptance, as notice is the first (1st) essential element

of reimbursement from the Fund under S.C.Code Ann. § 42-9-400(2010). The Employer then prepared its case for hearing.

The Employer had notice of the prior accident of April 27, 2002, prior to the November 29, 2007 accident, as evidenced by the Claimant's statement and the Employer's affidavit. (Item No. 22) The Employer acquired opinions from the Claimant, Dr. Strohmeyer and Dr. Zgleszewski that the preexisting condition was a hindrance to his employment and/or reemployment. (Item No. 27, 28) Also, both physicians opined that he sustained substantially greater medical expenses and disability due to his preexisting physical condition, which was aggravated by the November 29, 2007, injury, than he would have sustained but for the subsequent injury alone. (Item No. 27, 28)

Therefore, in accordance with S.C.Code Ann. § 42-9-400(2010), the Employer argued it was entitled to reimbursement of fifty percent (50%) of the medical payments, during the first seventy-eight (78) weeks of payment of temporary disability, less the initial Three Thousand Dollar and No./100 (\$3,000.00) payment, and reimbursement of all medical benefits after the payment of the first seventy-eight (78) weeks of disability benefits. The Employer also sought reimbursement of all indemnity payments made subsequent to the first seventy-eight (78) weeks of temporary total disability benefits. (Item No. 29)

At the hearing, not only did the Fund argue that notice was not proper, which was the thrust of its argument, it also argued the Claimant did not have a prior lumbar injury that was permanent and serious enough to constitute a hindrance to employment or that it substantially increased medical expenses. (Item No. 29) The Fund further argued the Defendants could not submit into evidence anything that was not submitted to the Fund by June 30, 2011, and referenced S.C.Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B)(2010), alleging it somehow prevents submission.

The Hearing Commissioner found in favor of the Employer. (Item No. 29) The

Findings of Fact are as Follows:

1. The first question at bar is whether or not this matter is correctly before the Commission. The Fund argues that this is a 2008 case as noted by the WCC File Number attached. As such, a 2007 claim is not correctly before the Commission. The Carrier's position is that even though this case has been assigned a 2008 case number this is actually a 2007 injury. They cite Orders from both Commissioner Barden and Commissioner Williams which identify this as a 2007 injury. While there was an incident in 2008, both Commissioners refer to that event as a temporary aggravation on the 2007 injury. The record is clear, despite the assigned case number, this is clearly a 2007 injury, and a 2007 case which is correctly before the Commission at this hearing.
2. Not only do the Orders from Commissioner Barden and Commissioner Williams identify this as a 2007 injury, but Dr. Strohmeyer, Dr. Zgleszewski and the Claimant statements support this finding.
3. The other questions at bar are all issues pursuant to §42-9-400 and whether or not the Carrier's claim is barred from reimbursement pursuant to §42-7-320(B).
4. Under §42-7-320(B)(2) the Second Injury Fund needs to make a determination whether to accept, deny or accept in part/deny in part any claim submitted to it by December 31, 2011. Their determination is based on process outlined in the statute.
5. If the decision of the Second Injury Fund is adverse to the Employer and/or Carrier, they may seek adjudication by the Commission by filing a Form 54. Contested cases before the Workers' Compensation Commission are governed by the Administrative Procedures Act and the Workers' Compensation Act and Regulations.
6. The Legislature promulgated S.C. Code Ann. §42-7-320 for an orderly dissolution of the Fund. It requires the moving party requesting reimbursement from the Fund to provide all necessary material to the Fund by June 30, 2011, in order for the Fund to make a decision as to whether it was to accept, make a compromised settlement or deny a claim prior to December 31, 2011.

7. The Defendants received their denial letter on July 8, 2010. After that point, the Employer/Carrier no longer had a duty to continue to provide the Fund with additional statements or information, as they had already made a denial of the claim.
8. After the Fund denied the claim with respect to the notice requirement and after having been provided with notice as to both claims and the Order of Commissioner Williams, there was not any additional duty by the Defendants to submit additional information, prior to June 30, 2011.
9. The Fund had made its decision as to accept, enter into a compromised settlement, or deny by December 31, 2011.
10. The statute does not place an affirmative burden on the Defendants to continually submit additional evidence after the Fund has made one of its three (3) decisions.
11. The Fund was provided notice prior to the seventy (78) weeks of Temporary Total Disability being paid.
12. The language in §42-7-320(B) cited by the Fund applies to the Fund. It does not and may not prohibit the Commission from considering any and all evidence. In fact, the Commission has a duty to accept any and all relevant and admissible evidence the Employer/Carrier submits in accordance with the Administrative Procedures Act.
13. Section 42-7-320(B) does not serve as a bar as to what evidence may be submitted to the Workers' Compensation Commission.
14. This matter, heard by the Workers' Compensation Commission regarding the issues on Petitioner's Form 54, is a full hearing on the merits of the case at which the Workers' Compensation Commissioner may consider any and all relevant evidence submitted in accordance with the Administrative Procedures Act.
15. The Claimant had a pre-existing condition to his lumbar spine as a result of an on-the-job injury on April 27, 2002. The Claimant sustained a L5-S1 right paracentral disc bulge per the MRI conducted on November 12, 2002.
16. This pre-existing injury caused permanent impairment and was an obstacle and hindrance to his employment or re-

employment prior to the November 29, 2007 injury, Dr. Strohmeyer, Dr. Zgleszewski and the Claimant support this finding.

17. The employer had notice of the Claimant's prior injury. (See the Consent or Order entered into by the parties and served on November 28, 2011).

18. One could also presume that they had notice since the Defendants have included a statement from Chuck Williams [APA 21 page 53].

19. Although, the statement does not reference who Mr. Chuck Williams is, the Defendants presented, during oral argument, he is the Human Resource Representative for PepsiCo.

20. The pre-existing condition which the Employer was aware of, was aggravated by the November 29, 2007, injury.

21. Due to the pre-existing condition that was aggravated by the November 29, 2007, injury, the Claimant sustained substantially greater medical expenses and/or disability as a result of the pre-existing condition than he would from the subsequent injury alone.

22. Dr. Scott Strohmeyer states, "As a result of the Claimant's pre-existing condition of April 27, 2002, which was permanently aggravated by the accident on November 29, 2007 and temporarily aggravated by the incident on January 16, 2008, the Claimant sustained substantially greater medical expenses and/or disability as a result of the pre-existing condition of April 27, 2002 than for the November 29, 2007 injury alone. All of my opinions have been provided within a reasonable degree of medical certainty."

23. Dr. Zgleszewski states, "Based upon my treatment and review of the Claimant's prior medical records, it is my opinion the Claimant permanently aggravated his pre-existing condition of April 27, 2002, due to his injury on November 29, 2007. . . ." "All of my opinions have been provided within a reasonable degree of medical certainty."

24. The Defendants have met their burden of proof that the permanent pre-existing condition was aggravated by the subsequent injury causing substantially greater medical expenses and disability than for the subsequent injury alone.

From the Hearing Commissioner's Decision and Order dated September 20, 2013, the Fund appealed. (Item No. 29) This matter came before the Full Commission pursuant to the Fund's Form 30, Request for Commission Review, dated September 20, 2013. (Item No. 30)

According to the Fund's Form 30, Appellant Brief and oral argument, the Fund alleged the Hearing Commissioner erred in failing to find that notice was provided to the Fund within the first seventy-eight (78) weeks of payment of temporary total disability benefits, since the Fund is of the opinion that the actual date of accident is January 16, 2008. (Item No. 30) It further argued as follows: the November 29, 2007 injury was not properly before the Commission, since the Fund alleged it was actually a January 16, 2008 injury; the Claimant's preexisting injury did not cause permanent impairment, and it was not an obstacle and hindrance to his employment or re-employment prior to the November 29, 2007 injury (it alleges is a January 16, 2008 injury); the preexisting condition was not aggravated by the November 29, 2007 injury(it alleges is a January 16, 2008 injury), and it did not cause substantially greater medical expenses and disability than for the subsequent injury alone; the Employer failed to submit all required information for consideration of acceptance of the claim to the Fund prior to June 30, 2011; the Hearing Commission erred in allowing evidence submitted by the Employer into the record dated after June 30, 2011, and the Fund relies on S.C.Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B)(2010), as a somehow exclusion provision for evidence submission; and the Employer did have a duty to continue to submit information to the Fund with required information, after the Fund had denied the Employer's request for acceptance on two (2) separate occasions based on notice. (Item No. 30)

The matter was heard before Commissioner Wilkerson, Commissioner Barden, and Commissioner James on January 21, 2014, at 2:00 p.m. in Columbia, SC. (Item No. 34) On

February 11, 2014, The Full Commission issued its Directive, indicating Commissioner James and Commissioner Barden reversed the Hearing Commissioner's Decision and Order, and Commissioner Wilkerson voted to affirm the Hearing Commissioner's Order. It did not state any specific Findings of Fact or Conclusions of Law. The Fund was requested to prepare a proposed order and submit it to the Judicial Department within thirty (30) days. On March 28, 2014, the proposed Decision and Order was submitted. The Fund provided the following Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in its proposed Order:

FINDINGS OF FACT

After hearing argument of the parties and reviewing the evidence, we reverse the Single Commissioner's Findings of Fact and issue the following:

1. Carrier's November 29, 2007 claim was not properly before the Commission. According to the Commission's file, the date of injury is January 16, 2008, not November 29, 2007. This finding is based upon the totality of the records in evidence including the Commission's file number and Fund APA pp.1-2 and 38-42.

2. Carrier's documents dated after June 30, 2011 should have been excluded from the record based on the mandate of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B)(2), which states that all required information must be submitted to the Fund by June 30, 2011 so that the claim can be accepted, compromised, or denied.

3. We find that documents addressing elements of reimbursement are "required information" for purposes of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B)(2) and was required to be submitted to the Fund by June 30, 2011. This "required information" includes elements addressing whether there is a preexisting condition and subsequent injury; whether the preexisting condition was permanent and serious enough to constitute a hindrance or obstacle to employment; whether Carrier has established knowledge and notice; and, whether the preexisting condition created substantially greater liability for the Carrier. This finding is based upon the plain meaning of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-400 and § 42-7-320(B)(2).

4. Carrier submitted several documents after June 30, 2011 that address the elements of reimbursement, including knowledge statements dated December 5 and 6, 2011, a medical questionnaire dated January 11, 2012, and a medical narrative dated January 26, 2012. These statements were admitted over the Fund's objection and should have been excluded. This finding is based upon the express language of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B)(2) and Carrier APA pp.53-54 and 65-68.

5. Carrier's assertion that it had no duty to provide additional documents to the Fund after its claim was denied in 2010 is without merit and is inconsistent with the express statutory language of § 42-7-320(B)(2).

6. Carrier failed to provide notice of the January 16, 2008 to the Second Injury Fund pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-400(f), which requires that the Fund be provided notice prior to the payment of seventy-eight (78) weeks of compensation.

a. Carrier did not provide notice prior to the payment of seventy-eight (78) weeks of compensation. According to the Form 18, temporary total benefits were paid from January 28, 2008 to January 17, 2010. On the Form 18, the time period from January 28, 2008 to January 17, 2010 is incorrectly calculated to be approximately fifty (50) weeks, when in fact it is approximately one hundred fourteen (114) weeks. This finding is based upon Carrier APA p.36.

b. Carrier provided the Fund with notice of the January 2008 claim in approximately March or April 2010, after it had already paid at least one hundred fourteen (114) weeks of compensation. This violates the express mandate of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-400(f). This finding is based upon Carrier APA pp.36-37 and S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-400(f).

7. Carrier's failure to provide notice of a potential Second Injury Fund claim prior to the payment of seventy-eight (78) weeks of compensation bars its receipt of reimbursement. This finding is based upon S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-400(f).

8. Since Carrier's claim for reimbursement is barred for its failure to provide notice within the statutory time period outlined in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-400(f), we do not find it necessary to address the other substantive elements of reimbursement.

9. Carrier's is not entitled to reimbursement and its claim is denied.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Based upon the foregoing and applicable statutory and case law, we conclude as a matter of law:

1. Reimbursement from the South Carolina Second Injury Fund is governed by S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-400.

2. The right of Carrier to receive reimbursement from the South Carolina Second Injury Fund depends upon complete compliance with the requirements for recovery. S. C. Second Injury Fund v. Amer. Yard Prod., 330 S.C. 20 496 S.E.2d 862 (1998).

3. To qualify for reimbursement Carrier had the burden to prove that it provided all required information to the Fund for consideration of its claim by June 30, 2011. Carrier did not meet this requirement as outlined in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B)(2); and as such, Carrier is not entitled to reimbursement pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-400.

4. To qualify for reimbursement Carrier had the burden to prove that it provided notice to the Fund prior to the payment of seventy-eight (78) weeks of compensation. Carrier did not comply with this requirement as outlined in § 42-9-400(f); and, as such, Carrier is not entitled to reimbursement pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-400.

5. Since Carrier did not meet all requirements for reimbursement pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B)(2) and § 42-9-400, it is not entitled to reimbursement from the South Carolina Second Injury Fund, and its claim is denied.

ORDER

IT IS THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Order of the Single Commissioner filed on September 6, 2013, is hereby REVERSED by a Majority of the Appellate Panel, and this Order shall constitute the Decision of the Full Commission.

(Item No. 31) The majority of the Full Commission then wrote the Fund indicating numerous errors in the proposed Decision and Order. The majority requested the proposed Decision and Order find the Fund was provided with proper notice within seventy-eight (78) weeks of payment of compensation in regard to the November 29, 2007 accident. Also, the majority of the Full Commission requested a finding that the accident occurred November 29, 2007, not on January 16, 2008, as the Fund maintained.