THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No.: 2014-001083

Old Republic Insurance Company, Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Second Injury Fund, Respondent.

(In Re: Carl Hutchins, Employee v. Pepsi Bottling Group and Old Republic Insurance Company,
Employer and Carrier)

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

OCT 06 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Christa Tidwell Bell
PO Box 11329
Columbia SC 29221

Latonya Dilligard Edwards, Esquire
Dilligard Edwards, LLC
3790 Fernandina Road, Suite 103
Columbia, South Carolina 29210
(803) 750-2214 (telephone)
(803) 750-2377 (facsimile)

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Was the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission's decision that Carrier had not established knowledge pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-400 (c) supported by substantial evidence in the record?
2. Was the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission's decision to exclude certain documents consistent with the statutory mandate outlined in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320 (B) (2)?
3. Does S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-400 require Carrier to establish a prima facie case to implicate reimbursement recovery?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a claim by the South Carolina Second Injury Fund (the "Fund") from an award of partial reimbursement under South Carolina Code Ann. § 42-9-400. Employer, Pepsi Bottling Group, and Carrier, Old Republic Insurance Company (collectively "Carrier") alleged that they incurred substantially greater liability for medical costs and disability when their employee, Carl Hutchins ("Claimant"), sustained a work injury on November 29, 2007 that either aggravated or combined with his preexisting lumbar injury. R.p. 88. The Fund denied this claim for various reasons. The Fund asserted that the claim was barred by S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320 (B) and its subsections. Specifically, the Fund asserted that Carrier had not submitted all required information by June 30, 2011, which bars reimbursement. The Fund also asserted that the date of injury was January 16, 2008 rather than November 29, 2007 as alleged by Carrier. R.pp. 150. The Fund also asserted that it was not provided notice of a potential second injury fund claim prior to the payment of seventy-eight (78) weeks of benefits, as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-400 (f). R.p. 150. The Fund also denied that the prior lumbar injury was permanent and serious enough to constitute a hindrance to employment or that it

substantially increased Carrier's liability for medical costs and permanent disability within the meaning of the S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-400 (a).

The Single Commissioner found the claim reimbursable. The Appellate Panel reversed. Carried filed this appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for decisions of the Workers' Compensation Commission is established in the Administrative Procedures Act. S.C. Second Injury Fund v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 353 S.C. 117, 576 S.E.2d 199 (Ct. App. 2003). A reviewing court must not disturb the Workers' Compensation Commission's findings if those findings are supported by substantial evidence in the record. Pearson v. JPS Converter & Indus. Corp., 327 S.C. 393, 489 S.E.2d 219 (Ct. App. 1997). The fact that reasonable minds may differ or that there is the possibility of drawing inconsistent conclusions does not prevent an agency's findings from being supported by substantial evidence. Grant v. S.C. Coastal Council, 319 S.C. 348, 461 S.E. 2d 388 (1995).

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

In 2007, the Workers' Compensation Reform Act created various provisions that impacted the Second Injury Fund. See S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320 et. seq. The Workers' Compensation Reform Act required the Fund to initiate a winding down process that would ultimately result in its termination. To that end, the Act sets out a series of deadlines to insure an efficient winding down and closure of the Second Injury Fund.

First, the statute prohibits the Fund from accepting claims with dates of injury on or after July 1, 2008. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320 (B). Then, employers, carriers and

self-insurers must notify the Fund of a potential claim by December 31, 2010. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B) (1). In addition, employers, carriers, and self-insurers must submit all required information to the Fund by June 30, 2011. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B) (2). The statute further instructs that the Fund shall not accept a claim for reimbursement after December 31, 2011. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320 (B). Finally, the programs and appropriations of the Fund are terminated on and after July 1, 2013. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320 (A). The dates outlined in the statute are mandatory not discretionary.

ARGUMENT

I. CARRIER'S CLAIM IS BARRED BY THE MANDATES OF § 42-7-320 (B) AND ITS SUBSECTIONS.

Section 42-7-320(B) (2) states the following:

An employer, self-insurer, or insurance carrier must submit all required information for consideration of accepting a claim to the Second Injury Fund by June 30, 2011. Failure to submit all required information to the fund by June 30, 2011, so that the claim can be accepted, compromised, or denied **shall** bar an employer, self-insurer or insurance carrier from recovery from the fund.

S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B) (emphasis added).

Carrier submitted various documents after June 30, 2011 that the Single Commissioner admitted over the Fund's objection. R.p. 6 and 17-19. The documents at issue included knowledge statements dated December 5 and 6, 2011, a medical questionnaire dated January 2012, and medical records dated January 26, 2012. R.pp. 121-122, 142-143, 153 and 154. The Fund objected to these records becoming part of the evidence because they were not submitted pursuant to the statutory deadlines. The Single Commissioner overruled the Fund's objection and allowed the documents to become part of the

evidence in this case. In reversing the Single Commissioner's Decision, the Full Commission determined that the documents at issue should not have been admitted because the documents constituted required information that was not timely submitted. The Commission's decision was supported by substantial evidence in the record and should be affirmed.

II. THE DOCUMENTS CARRIER SOUGHT TO ADMIT ARE "REQUIRED INFORMATION" AND THE COMMISSION'S DECISION TO EXCLUDE THE DOCUMENTS IS CONSISTENT WITH S.C. CODE ANN. § 42-7-320(B).

"Required information" is not a term of art; and, as such, Webster's defines "required" as "necessary or indispensable" or "to place under an obligation." WEBSTER'S DICTIONARY 386 (2001). In the statutory reimbursement scheme, there are a number of "necessary or indispensable" elements that a carrier has to prove in order to establish its entitlement to reimbursement. The statutory reimbursement scheme places carriers "under an obligation" to meet these requirements. See S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-400.

Section 42-9-400 requires that (1) Claimant have a permanent preexisting impairment (§ 42-9-400(a)); (2) that the permanent preexisting impairment create substantially greater liability for medical costs and permanent disability than that which would have resulted from the work injury alone (§ 42-9-400(a)); (3) that Carrier have knowledge of the permanent preexisting impairment (§ 42-9-400(c)); (4) that Claimant's permanent preexisting impairment was permanent and serious enough to constitute a hindrance or obstacle to employment or reemployment (§ 42-9-400(d)); and (5) that Carrier provide the Fund with notice of a potential claim prior to the payment of seventy-eight (78) weeks of compensation (§ 42-9-400(f)). Case law instructs that a Carrier's

right to receive reimbursement from the South Carolina Second Injury Fund depends upon complete compliance with the requirements for recovery. South Carolina Second Injury Fund v. American Yard Products, 496 S.E.2d 862 (S.C. 1998). Thus, Carrier must establish all elements of reimbursement in order to recover.

Here, Carrier's documents in support of its knowledge of Claimant's preexisting condition included a Statement from Claimant, dated December 6, 2011 and a statement from another individual dated December 5, 2011. R.pp. 153 and 154. The other excluded documents submitted by Carrier included a medical questionnaire dated January 11, 2012 and a medical narrative dated January 26, 2012. R.pp.121-122 and 142-143. Carrier submitted the medical questionnaires and the medical narrative to support that Claimant had a preexisting condition and a subsequent injury; aggravation of the preexisting condition; that the preexisting condition was permanent and serious enough to constitute a hindrance or obstacle to employment or reemployment; and that the preexisting condition caused Carrier to incur substantially greater medical costs and permanent disability. R.pp.121-122, 142-143, 153 and 154. All of these elements are "required information" because Carrier has to establish all of these elements to assert a successful reimbursement claim. See S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-400. In this case, all of these documents addressed "required information" but unfortunately, none of these documents were timely submitted by Carrier in its quest for reimbursement recovery. See. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B) and § 42-9-400. To be clear, Carrier submitted several documents prior to June 30, 2011; however, none of the timely submitted documents addressed all of the "required information."

In reversing the Single Commissioner's decision, the Full Commission determined the documents at issue should have been excluded because they addressed "required information" based upon the plain meaning of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B). R.pp. 54-55. That section further indicates that failure to submit required information to the Fund shall bar recovery. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B) (2). The Commission's decision to exclude certain documents submitted by Carrier was consistent with the statutory mandate.

III. THE REIMBURSEMENT STATUTE REQUIRES CARRIER TO ESTABLISH A PRIMA FACIE CASE FOR REIMBURSEMENT.

Carrier asserts that the Commission required it to establish a prima facie case for reimbursement. The Commission made no such finding. However, the reimbursement statute requires that Carrier establish a prima facie case for reimbursement. After all, case law instructs that a Carrier's right to receive reimbursement from the South Carolina Second Injury Fund depends upon complete compliance with the requirements for recovery. S.C. Second Injury Fund v. American Yard Prod., 330 S.C. 20, 496 S.E.2d 862 (1998).


Carrier asserts that it had no duty to provide the Fund with additional documents after its claim was denied in 2010. The Commission found that Carrier's position in this regard was without merit. The statute is crystal clear that Carrier must submit all required information to the Fund by June 30, 2011. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B) (2). The fact that a claim had been previously denied does not absolve Carrier of its statutorily mandated responsibility. Carrier must submit all required information to the Fund by June 30, 2011 or its claim is barred. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B) (2). Carrier

failed to timely submit all required information; and, as such, it is barred from reimbursement recovery.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons cited herein, the Fund requests that this Honorable Court affirm the Full Commission's decision as supported by substantial evidence in the record